
JULY 2021 

NEVADA BAR EXAM 

QUESTION NO. 1: ANSWER IN LIGHT BLUE BOOKLET 

 

 

 Cate and Jon are Nevada lawyers who began their careers at Big Law, Ltd.  Cate practiced 

civil litigation while Jon practiced in the bankruptcy department.  Both quickly grew disillusioned 

with Big Law due to the high stress environment and outrageous billable hour requirement.  Cate 

and Jon decided to quit Big Law and start their own general practice firm called Nevada Attorneys 

General (“NAG”). 

 Before leaving Big Law, Cate asked one of her clients to follow her to NAG.  The client 

had a trial coming up and Cate had invested a lot of time in the case.  The client agreed to follow 

Cate.  A week before the trial, Cate was upset to learn that the client was still talking to Big Law 

attorneys and questioning Cate’s trial strategy.  Cate refused to do any more work on the case and 

told the client to go back to Big Law. 

 Jon’s first clients at NAG were a couple who hired him to file a bankruptcy petition.  After 

several months, while waiting for the court to close the bankruptcy case, the wife asked Jon to 

represent her in what she characterized as an “uncontested divorce.”  Jon agreed and charged her 

a $50,000 flat fee.  Jon did not have any family law experience, so NAG hired a veteran paralegal 

who was able to produce the divorce documents in just a few hours.  Without reading them, Jon 

signed the pleadings filed with the court. 

 Cate had a consultation at NAG with a man who was seriously injured in a slip-and-fall at 

a local restaurant.  Cate told him they would be going up against Big Law because the restaurant  
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kept her former law firm on retainer for cases like this.  After agreeing Cate would be paid one-

third of any recovery, the two shook hands to finalize the deal.   

That evening, Cate and Jon dined at the restaurant where the accident happened.  The 

general manager, who recognized Cate from Big Law, came to the table to greet the two attorneys.  

After exchanging pleasantries, Cate declared, “When my new case is over, I’ll own this place.”  

When asked about the case, Cate told the manager the name of her client and asked for a copy of 

the restaurant’s internal incident report related to the accident. 

 

Please fully discuss all ethical issues implicated under the Nevada Rules of Professional 

Conduct. 
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JULY 2021 

NEVADA BAR EXAM 

QUESTION NO. 2: ANSWER IN RED BOOKLET 

 

 

 

Allstar Cinema is a movie theater in Reno, Nevada.  Alex and his girlfriend Becca often spend 

Friday nights at the theater enjoying the newest movie release.  

Last Friday after purchasing their tickets, Alex and Becca went to the snack bar.  Alex chose a 

soda and popcorn.  Alex has a severe peanut allergy.  During a previous visit to the theater, he asked if the 

popcorn was cooked in peanut oil and the employee said they always cook the popcorn in canola oil.  Last 

Friday, however, and unbeknownst to Alex, the popcorn was cooked in peanut oil.   

After getting their snacks, Alex and Becca went to their favorite seats.  Becca’s seat was wrapped 

with yellow caution tape.  Becca insisted on sitting where she always sat so she removed the tape and sat 

down.   The movie began moments later.  Becca soon realized the seat’s rocking mechanism was not 

working.  Becca used her legs to push on the seat in front of her to help her recline, but her seat snapped, 

and Becca fell to the ground.  Alex was having a difficult time breathing and realized he did not have his 

emergency allergy medication.  Panicking, he told Becca they had to leave immediately.  Becca, in severe 

pain and unable to move, asked the patron next to her to get help.  Moments later, a theater employee 

called an ambulance for both Alex and Becca and they were transported to the hospital where they spent 

several days recovering. 

 During the same movie, another patron, Charlie, tripped on a cracked stair and fell.  David, an 

Allstar off-duty theater manager enjoying the movie, witnessed Charlie fall and offered to help.  David 

escorted Charlie to the hallway and noticed his chin was bleeding.  David said to Charlie, “I am happy to 

glue your cut. I know how to do it; I saw it in a movie once.”  Charlie, embarrassed and eager to get back 

to the movie, agreed to let David glue his cut.  While David got some glue from the main office, he also  
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left a note for the on-duty manager stating, “Another patron fell on the cracked stair in theater #2, we 

must fix it!”  Rather than cleaning the cut or waiting for the bleeding to stop, David squeezed some glue 

into the cut, put a bandage on it and escorted Charlie back to the theater.  Charlie suffered a minor 

concussion when he fell and halfway through the movie went to sleep.   Charlie did not wake until the 

next morning.  The theater manager failed to see Charlie when he locked the theater that night.  Charlie 

went home the next morning with a severe headache and an infected wound on his chin. 

  

 

Please fully discuss the following: 

1. The claims Alex and Becca have against Allstar Cinema and the defenses Allstar 

Cinema will assert. 

2. The claims Charlie has against David and Allstar Cinema and the defenses that 

David and Allstar Cinema will assert. 
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JULY 2021 

NEVADA BAR EXAM 

QUESTION NO. 3: ANSWER IN DARK GREEN BOOKLET 

 

   

Oscar owned Blackacre, a parcel of land located in Henderson, Nevada.  Oscar borrowed 

$500,000 from Amy and granted Amy a Deed of Trust on Blackacre to secure repayment of the 

loan.  Amy did not record her Deed of Trust.  Oscar then borrowed $100,000 from Bob, who did 

not know about Amy’s Deed of Trust, and granted Bob a Deed of Trust on Blackacre to secure 

repayment of the loan.  Bob did not record his Deed of Trust.  Oscar was current on his loan 

payments to Amy and Bob. 

Oscar’s sole heir and devisee was his niece, Christina.  Christina was aware that she would 

inherit Blackacre when Oscar died. Oscar did not tell Christina about the secured loans from Amy 

and Bob.  

Before Oscar died, Christina needed cash and agreed to immediately sell Blackacre to 

Dennis for $1,000,000.  Dennis conducted a title search and did not find any recorded 

encumbrances against Blackacre.  When Dennis asked Christina why title to Blackacre was not in 

her name, she told Dennis that she was Oscar’s heir and devisee and that she would obtain title to 

Blackacre when Oscar died. 

Dennis paid Christina $1,000,000 in exchange for a Warranty Deed under which 

Christina agreed to “grant, bargain and sell” Blackacre to Dennis, without any exceptions to title.  

Dennis immediately recorded the Warranty Deed with the Clark County Recorder.  Oscar died a 

month later and a Warranty Deed to Blackacre from Oscar’s estate to Christina was recorded 

with the Clark County Recorder.  
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Christina found a copy of the Deeds of Trust that Oscar had granted to Amy and Bob in 

Oscar’s papers. Christina contacted Amy and Bob to tell them that Oscar died and that she would 

not be making any further payments on their loans. 

Amy called Christina the next day and demanded immediate payment of all amounts due 

on her loan.  Christina told Amy that she was out of luck because Amy failed to record her Deed 

of Trust and Dennis was now the owner of Blackacre. She also told Amy that Oscar had borrowed 

money from Bob and granted Bob a Deed of Trust on Blackacre.  Amy immediately recorded her 

Deed of Trust with the Clark County Recorder and sent notice of the recording and a Notice of 

Default to Christina, Dennis and Bob.  Bob then recorded his Deed of Trust with the Clark County 

Recorder.   

Dennis demanded that Amy and Bob discharge their Deeds of Trust.  Amy and Bob 

refused.  Dennis filed a lawsuit against Amy and Bob seeking to quiet title to Blackacre in Dennis, 

free and clear of Amy’s and Bob’s Deeds of Trust.  Dennis also sued Christina for damages arising 

out of her alleged breach of warranties of title when she conveyed Blackacre to Dennis. 

 

Please fully discuss the following under Nevada law: 

1. As between Amy and Bob, and prior to any conveyance of Blackacre, whose 

Deed of Trust is superior? 

2. Will Dennis prevail in his quiet title action against Amy and Bob?   

3. What claims under the Warranty Deed, if any, does Dennis have against 

Christina and will he prevail?  What defenses, if any, does Christina have against Dennis’ 

claims? 
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JULY 2021 

NEVADA BAR EXAM 

QUESTION NO. 4: ANSWER IN ORANGE BOOKLET 

 

  

 After returning home from a trip to Las Vegas, Paul, an Arizona resident, reviewed his 

rental car receipt and saw that he had been charged a $20 “concession and service fee” per day in 

addition to the advertised rental charge. Upset, Paul contacted his Arizona-based lawyer, a sole 

practitioner licensed in both Arizona and Nevada who previously handled a personal injury 

matter for Paul. 

 Paul’s lawyer filed a complaint in Nevada state court against Drive, the rental car 

company used by Paul in Las Vegas. Drive is a Nevada corporation with its principal place of 

business in Nevada. The complaint stated that it was brought on behalf of Paul “and all others 

who have paid a concession and service fee to Drive Las Vegas in the last five years.” The 

concession and service fee ranged from $20 to $30 per day depending upon the type of car rented 

and length of rental. The complaint estimated that 150,000 individuals from all over the United 

States and internationally had rented from Drive Las Vegas over the last five years. 

 Twenty days after being properly served with the complaint, Drive removed the case to 

the United States District Court for the District of Nevada. Following removal, Paul filed 

motions to certify a class and to remand the action to state court. 

 Drive opposed both motions, arguing that the case properly belonged in federal court and 

that class certification was inappropriate because: (1) the concession and service fee varied by 

type of car and length of rental; and (2) the concession and service fee was waived if an 

individual was a member of Drive’s loyalty program or if the individual elected to purchase 

rental insurance through Drive. Drive also argued that it would be impossible to notify everyone 

who rented over the last five years as it changed reservation systems last year and did not  
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maintain records from the old system. Paul argued there were many annual repeat visitors to Las 

Vegas and therefore Drive’s reservation records were adequate. 

The federal court denied the motion to remand and granted the motion to certify a class. 

Shortly thereafter, Drive’s counsel approached Paul’s lawyer offering to settle the case by giving 

each member of the class a $20 coupon to be applied toward a future rental from Drive and 

payment of $200,000 in attorney’s fees to Paul’s lawyer. Paul and his lawyer quickly agreed and 

notice of the proposed settlement was sent to individuals who could be identified through Drive’s 

reservation system. After receiving notice of the proposed settlement, a group of approximately 

100 individuals objected to the proposed settlement terms as not being fair or in their best 

interest. After a hearing, the court approved the settlement in a written order. The order stated in 

its entirety, “based upon the record and good cause appearing, the court approves the terms of the 

proposed settlement.” The individuals in the group who objected intend to appeal. 

 

Please fully discuss the following: 

1. Did the court properly decide the motion to remand? 

2. Did the court properly decide the motion to certify? 

3. Did the court properly rule on the motion to approve the settlement? 

4. Were the terms of the settlement legally permissible? 

5. May the group objecting to the settlement appeal from the court’s order approving 

the settlement? 
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JULY 2021 

NEVADA BAR EXAM 

QUESTION NO. 5: ANSWER IN PURPLE BOOKLET 

 

 

Dan and Steve were drinking at the Bar along with several other patrons.  As the evening 

wore on Dan and Peter got into a heated argument.  Unable to stop the altercation George, one of 

the two bartenders ejected them from the Bar. Dan and Peter continued fighting in the alley 

behind the Bar.  Dan and Peter both claim the other threw the first punch.   Peter suffered 

multiple head wounds from the fight.  Dan was later arrested for battery and his case was set for 

a criminal trial.   Peter sued Dan for battery and the Bar for negligence.   

 

Please discuss the admissibility of the following at the criminal trial:  

1. The Defense’s request to admit Steve’s testimony that “Dan is a person of good 

character, and he would never start a fight.”   

2. The State’s request to admit George’s testimony “Dan always drinks too much, gets 

belligerent and gets into arguments challenging people to fights.” 

3. The Defense’s request to admit evidence that Peter was previously convicted of felony 

theft in 2017. 

 

Please discuss the admissibility of the following at a civil trial:  

4. Defendant’s request to admit evidence that Dan, Peter, and the Bar participated in a 

settlement conference and Peter was offered $100,000 to settle the civil case. 
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5. Plaintiff’s request to admit testimony from Steve that Dan told him he wishes he 

wouldn’t have overreacted that night, he feels really bad for Peter, and would like to pay for 

Peter’s medical expenses. 

6. Defendant’s request to admit medical records of Peter’s injuries showing that he was 

intoxicated on the night of the fight.  

7. Defendant’s request to admit George’s testimony that Alice, the other bartender working 

with him the night of the fight, told him: “I looked out the back door and saw Peter throw the 

first punch.” Alice has since moved to Canada and refused to return to Nevada to testify at the 

trial. 
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JULY 2021 

NEVADA BAR EXAM 

QUESTION NO. 6: ANSWER IN YELLOW BOOKLET 

 

 Officer Smith was dispatched to a residence in Reno, Nevada, in response to a 

disconnected 911 call. He knocked on the door and announced his presence. Mrs. 

Davis opened the door. Officer Smith saw blood around her nose and asked her if 

there was a problem. Mrs. Davis answered that everything was “okay.” Officer 

Smith asked her if there was anyone else inside and, if so, was the person injured. 

Mrs. Davis, while glancing over her shoulder back into the house, answered that 

she was alone. When Officer Smith asked why she had blood on her face, she stated 

that her husband had hit her during an argument. Officer Smith told her that he 

needed to come in and check to see if anyone else was injured. As Officer Smith 

pushed the door open, Mrs. Davis stepped aside letting Officer Smith enter the 

residence. Once inside, Officer Smith found the house to be in disarray. He also 

found Mr. Davis sitting in the kitchen at the back of the residence.  

Officer Abby, who arrived moments later, entered the residence. Officer 

Smith had Officer Abby take Mrs. Davis outside so that he could talk to Mr. Davis. 

During that conversation Mr. Davis told him that he and his wife owned the home 

and that their adult son had a bedroom upstairs but was probably not home. Officer 

Smith arrested Mr. Davis for battery, walked him outside, and had Officer Abby 

place him into a patrol car.  
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Officer Smith reentered the residence, again announcing his presence as a 

law enforcement officer, and headed upstairs. As Officer Smith walked down a 

hallway he saw the door of the master bedroom was open. Standing by the bedroom 

door, he looked inside and saw a plastic bag containing a white powdery substance 

(later determined to be methamphetamine) on the floor next to the bed. Officer 

Smith entered the room, took possession of the plastic bag, and left the residence. 

Outside, Officer Smith told Mr. and Mrs. Davis that he had found drugs in their 

bedroom. He then requested permission to continue his search of the rest of 

residence, which they refused. Officer Smith placed them under arrest for drug 

possession and had them transported to the police station. Later, Officer Smith 

applied for a search warrant to search the residence for drugs.  

          The search warrant was signed by a magistrate the next day. Because Officer 

Smith was off duty, Officer Rogers was assigned to conduct the search of the 

residence pursuant to the search warrant. During her search, Officer Rogers found 

a plastic bag containing a powdery substance (later determined to be heroin) in a 

kitchen cabinet drawer.  

          Mr. and Mrs. Davis have been charged with two counts of possession of a 

controlled substance. They have filed a joint pretrial motion to suppress the 

methamphetamine and heroin evidence.  

 Please fully discuss how the trial court should rule on their motion to suppress 

regarding: 

          (1) the methamphetamine evidence; and  

          (2) the heroin evidence. 
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JULY 2021 

NEVADA BAR EXAM 

QUESTION NO. 7: ANSWER IN DARK BLUE BOOKLET 

 

  

On August 1, Carol called Alice’s Spirits Supply Store (“Alice”) and requested 500 

bottles of a $10 French white wine for her daughter’s wedding, to be delivered before August 15.  

Carol explained that the wedding was planned for the afternoon of August 15.  Later that day, 

Alice sent Carol an email stating: 

“Will get the order of white wine, as you requested.” 

Carol received the email and responded with an email stating: 

“Sounds good. Please confirm delivery date and time no later than August 12.”  

Big Bob’s Wholesale Liquor (“Big Bob”) distributes alcohol to Nevada retail suppliers.  

On the same day that Carol called Alice, Alice called Big Bob and ordered 500 bottles of French 

white wine because Alice did not have sufficient wine in stock.   Alice told Big Bob that Alice 

needed the white wine before August 15.  Big Bob told Alice that he had a French white wine 

available at $8 a bottle.   On August 2, Big Bob confirmed Alice’s order by an email stating: 

“Order for 500 bottles of French white wine confirmed at $8 a bottle, plus shipping costs 

of $100 per case; delivery before August 15..” 

Alice received the email and responded: “Ok.” 

Big Bob learned August 2 that he did not have enough French white wine to fill Alice’s 

order on time.  However, Big Bob did have 300 bottles of the French white wine and 200 bottles 

of a Pahrump white wine. 
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Later on August 2, Bob sent the following email to Alice: 

“Did not have enough French white wine but will timely deliver to you 300 bottles of 

French white wine and 200 bottles of Pahrump white wine, all at $10 a bottle.  Shipping costs 

increased to $115 per case.” 

Alice received but did not respond to Big Bob’s second email. 

Alice received Big Bob’s wine delivery in the morning on August 14, and immediately, 

without opening, delivered it to Carol that afternoon with an invoice stating: 

“Order for 500 bottles of white wine confirmed at $12 a bottle, plus delivery costs of 

$175 per case, cash on delivery.” 

Not having heard from Alice prior to August 12, Carol refused Alice’s delivery because 

she had to obtain a French white wine from another retailer at $14 a bottle.  Alice refused to pay 

Big Bob and returned the order to him. 

Big Bob sued Alice for breach of contract, and Alice sued Carol for breach of contract.  

 

Please fully discuss the following under Nevada law: 

1. Is there a contract between Alice and Carol, and if so, what are the terms? 

2. Discuss Carol’s and Alice’s claims against each other?   

3. Is there a contract between Alice and Big Bob, and if so, what are the terms?   

4. What are Alice’s and Big Bob’s claims against each other? 
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INSTRUCTIONS 

NEVADA PERFORMANCE TEST 

JULY 2021 

 

 Materials to be used for the Nevada Performance Test are contained in a 

“File” and a “Library.” The first document in the File is a memorandum that 

contains the instructions and a summary of the problem. Other documents in the 

File contain factual information, which may or may not be relevant to the issues. 

 The Library contains the legal authority. It is your responsibility to 

determine what legal authority is pertinent. The legal authorities include statutory 

provisions and cases. 

 You will be graded on your responsiveness to the instructions and on the 

content, thoroughness and organization of your document. Time management is 

also a critical factor. You reasonably should expect to use half the time reading and 

analyzing the materials and organizing your document. The remaining time should 

be sufficient time to write it. 
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FILE 

2



FILE MEMORANDUM 

TO:    Applicant 

FROM: District Attorney 

SUBJECT:   County Medical Center Personnel Issues 

DATE:  July 29, 2021 

I just finished a phone call with Dr. Sandra Hernandez, the Medical Director 

of the County Hospital, who needs urgent legal advice. She found out this morning 

about problems with three doctors associated with the County Hospital and wants 

to suspend each of them immediately. Dr. Hernandez has scheduled meetings this 

afternoon or evening with each of the three doctors. I told her to take no further 

action until I could get back to her later today with instructions.  

I am attaching the Hospital’s policy for Stage I and Stage II procedures prior 

to disciplinary action that apply here. Our Stage II procedures are well-settled and 

constitutionally sound, so don’t worry about them. But the Hospital’s policy for 

Stage I procedures is quite loose and may not be sufficient if procedural due 

process rights are implicated. So, I need to know what procedural due process 

rights, if any, Dr. Adams, Dr. Baker, or Dr. Carlaw have right now, prior to 

immediate disciplinary action against them by Director Hernandez. 

The situations are messy.  
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Dr.  Alex Adams is a well-regarded local heart surgeon. Although not an 

employee of the Hospital, Dr. Adams has had clinical privileges (also known as 

staff privileges or medical privileges) for twelve years that permit him to perform 

surgeries at the Hospital. Early this morning Dr. Adams was in an accident in 

which his car seriously injured a pedestrian. Dr. Adams’ wife emailed Director 

Hernandez this morning that Dr. Adams was arrested and charged this morning 

with driving under the influence of alcohol and for being impaired by cocaine and 

methamphetamine in violation of NRS 484C.110. Dr. Adams is scheduled to 

perform two heart surgeries at the Hospital early next week. Director Hernandez 

wants to immediately suspend his privileges while arranging for the Stage II 

Hearing.    

Dr. Bill Baker is a trauma surgeon who was a passenger in Dr. Adams’ car 

during the accident. Dr. Adams’ wife’s voicemail message for Director Hernandez 

suggested that Dr. Baker got into a dispute with one of the police officers and may 

have been arrested for interfering with a police officer, although apparently no 

charges were filed. Like Dr. Adams, Dr. Baker is not an employee but has clinical 

privileges. In addition, he is on the “call list” for emergency surgical services. 

Medical Director Hernandez wants to suspend his clinical privileges and 

immediately remove him from the “call list.” Unless removed from the “call list” 
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today, Dr. Baker could be called in for any emergency surgeries needed at the 

Hospital tonight.  

The third situation has nothing to do with the car accident. Dr. Chris Carlaw 

is a long-time employee of the County Hospital who can only be terminated with 

cause, the hospital’s equivalent of tenure. Dr. Carlaw is conducting important 

cancer research funded by the National Federation to Fight Cancer (NFFC). 

Director Hernandez received a letter this morning from the NFFC informing her 

that the NFFC has found discrepancies in Dr. Carlaw’s research that may violate 

their ethics standards. Under NFFC funding rules, if the tentative finding of 

discrepancies is confirmed after a review, Dr. Carlaw’s grant could be stopped and 

then the Hospital could lose the ability for any of its employees to get NFFC 

funding. Another research team at the Hospital plans to seek funding from NFFC 

in 2023. Dr. Hernandez is furious that Dr. Carlaw has gotten into this trouble and 

wants to suspend him without pay immediately until this is worked out. 

Using the File and Library attached, please provide me with a memo that 

explains how Director Hernandez should proceed in light of any limitations that 

procedural due process protections under the Nevada and U.S. Constitutions place 

on her ability to take the immediate disciplinary actions against Drs. Adams, 

Baker, and Carlaw that she has proposed.  
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COUNTY HOSPITAL POLICIES (EXCERPTS) 

 

The County Hospital enters into a variety of relationships with medical 

professionals who provide medical services to patients of the Hospital.  Protecting 

the safety and promoting the health of our patients is our highest priority….  

Procedures Prior to Taking Disciplinary Action 

In order to protect the rights of medical professionals who provide services, 

establish that all disciplinary decisions are made on sound bases, and maintain the 

highest standards of medical care, the Hospital uses a two-stage procedure when 

disciplinary action is contemplated.  

Stage I: The Hospital has temporary authority to take any immediate, 

temporary disciplinary action at the discretion of the Medical Director.  

Stage II:  Prior to any permanent action taken for disciplinary reasons to 

change a medical professional’s relationship with the Hospital, the person being 

disciplined has a right to (1) written notice of the allegations and of the potential 

disciplinary action at least 15 days prior to the formal hearing; and (2) a hearing, 

represented by counsel if desired, at which the medical professional will have an 

opportunity to refute the allegations and address possible disciplinary actions. This 

Stage II Hearing will be provided prior to any permanent termination, salary 

reduction, or loss of title or privileges, if done for disciplinary reasons.  

 

6



Letter from National Federation to Fight Cancer 

 

July 22, 2021 

Dr. Sandra Hernandez 
County Medical Hospital  
 
Dear Dr. Hernandez, 
 

I regret to inform you that a routine data audit by the Research Review 

Committee of the National Federation to Fight Cancer (NFFC) undertaken on July 

1, 2021, revealed significant apparent discrepancies in the results reported by Dr. 

Christopher Carlaw in his June 1, 2021, progress report on his research funded by 

NFFC Grant #2019-234F. These discrepancies have triggered an additional 

Investigatory Review that is being started now. If discrepancies are confirmed, the 

Review will attempt to discover the explanation for the errors.  

As you know, if confirmed following the Investigatory Review, any finding 

of discrepancies could have serious repercussions not only for Dr. Carlaw, but also 

for County Hospital as his employer. We are writing to make sure that you are 

fully aware of the processes and possible penalties if the discrepancies are 

confirmed and determined to have been caused by purposeful misconduct or 

negligent errors by Dr. Carlaw.  

We notified Dr. Carlaw yesterday that pursuant to NFFC policies and his 

funding agreement, he has sixty days to refute or explain the apparent 
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discrepancies as the first stage in the Investigatory Review. If the Research Review 

Committee subsequently determines that he has not adequately explained the data 

in question, the Investigatory Review will be continued. If then it determines that 

Dr. Carlaw has violated NFFC standards, the Committee will be authorized to 

withdraw all pending funding to Dr. Carlaw and place Dr. Carlaw on the NFFC’s 

Prohibited Researcher list. This Investigatory Review process typically is 

completed in as soon as nine months.  

As I’m sure you are aware, under NFFC funding rules, any hospital that 

employs a Prohibited Researcher becomes ineligible for new funding from NFFC 

starting six months following the imposition of the Prohibited Researcher 

designation as long as that or any Prohibited Researcher continues to be employed.   

I have provided Dr. Carlaw with extensive documentation regarding the specific 

data in his report that appear questionable.  

Please do not hesitate to contact me if I can answer any questions.  

Sincerely,  

Janet Jones 
 
Dr. Janet Jones 
Research Director 
National Federation to Fight Cancer 
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Transcript 
Voicemail Message to Medical Director 

 
 

Hi Sandra.  This is Kathy Adams, Alex’s wife. I have very bad news. Alex was in a 

car accident last night and was arrested for drunk driving and having controlled 

substances in his system. He’s been charged with a violation of NRS 484C.110 

because a pedestrian was seriously injured. Our lawyer expects to bail him out this 

morning so he’ll be able to work without interruption. Alex was driving another 

one of your doctors, Bill Baker, home when the accident occurred. I think Bill got 

into some kind of an argument with one of the police officers who accused Bill of 

getting in the way of the emergency services. The police brought both Alex and 

Bill to the station, but Alex told me he thinks Bill went home without being 

charged with anything. 
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CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS 
 
 
 

Constitution of the United States, 14th Amendment, Section 1 
 
All persons born or naturalized in the United States and subject to the jurisdiction 

thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the State wherein they reside. No 

State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or 

immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person 

of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person 

within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws. 

 

 

Constitution of the State of Nevada, Article 1 

Sec. 8.  Rights of accused in criminal prosecutions; jeopardy; due process of law; 

eminent domain. 

. . . 

2.  No person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of 

law. 
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NEVADA REVISED STATUTES 

 

NRS 484C.110  Unlawful acts; affirmative defense; additional penalty for  
violation committed in work zone or pedestrian safety zone.  
 
      1.  It is unlawful for any person to drive or be in actual physical control of a 

vehicle on a highway or on premises to which the public has access who: 

      (a) Is under the influence of intoxicating liquor; 

      (b) Has a concentration of alcohol of 0.08 or more in his or her blood or 

breath; or 

      (c) Is found by measurement within 2 hours after driving or being in actual 

physical control of a vehicle to have a concentration of alcohol of 0.08 or more in 

his or her blood or breath,  

      2.  It is unlawful for any person to drive or be in actual physical control of a 

vehicle on a highway or on premises to which the public has access who: 

      (a) Is under the influence of a controlled substance; 

      (b) Is under the combined influence of intoxicating liquor and a controlled 

substance; or 

      (c) Inhales, ingests, applies or otherwise uses any chemical, poison or organic 

solvent, or any compound or combination of any of these, to a degree which 

renders the person incapable of safely driving or exercising actual physical control 

of a vehicle. The fact that any person charged with a violation of this subsection is 
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or has been entitled to use that drug under the laws of this State is not a defense 

against any charge of violating this subsection. 

 

NRS 484C.430  Penalty if death or substantial bodily harm results. 

     A person does any act or neglects any duty imposed by law while driving or in 

actual physical control of any vehicle on or off the highways of this State, if the act 

or neglect of duty proximately causes the death of, or substantial bodily harm to, 

another person, is guilty of a category B felony and shall be punished by 

imprisonment in the state prison for a minimum term of not less than 2 years and a 

maximum term of not more than 20 years and must be further punished by a fine of 

not less than $2,000 nor more than $5,000.  
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Gilbert v. Homar 
Supreme Court of the United States (1997) 

 
 

This case presents the question whether a State violates the Due Process 

Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment by failing to provide notice and a hearing 

before suspending a tenured public employee without pay.  

          Respondent Richard J. Homar, a police officer at East Stroudsburg 

University (ESU), was arrested in a drug raid. Later that day, the state police filed 

a criminal complaint charging respondent with possession of marijuana, possession 

with intent to deliver, and criminal conspiracy to violate the controlled substance 

law, which is a felony. When notified of the arrest, ESU suspended respondent 

without pay effective immediately.  

          The supervisor and police chief subsequently met with respondent in order to 

give him an opportunity to tell his side of the story. He was advised "as a result of 

admissions made by yourself to the Pennsylvania State Police that you maintained 

associations with individuals whom you knew were dealing in large quantities of 

marijuana and that you obtained marijuana from one of those individuals for your 

own use. Your actions constitute a clear and flagrant violation of the [ESU] Police 

Department Manual.''  

          We previously concluded that a public employee dismissable only for cause 

was entitled to a very limited hearing prior to his termination, to be followed by a 

14



more comprehensive post-termination hearing. Stressing that the pretermination 

hearing should be an initial check against mistaken decisions-essentially, a 

determination of whether there are reasonable grounds to believe that the charges 

against the employee are true and support the proposed action, we held that 

pretermination process need only include oral or written notice of the charges, an 

explanation of the employer's evidence, and an opportunity for the employee to tell 

his side of the story.  

          It is by now well established that due process, unlike some legal rules, is not 

a technical conception with a fixed content unrelated to time, place and 

circumstances. Due process is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as 

the particular situation demands. This Court has recognized, on many occasions, 

that where a State must act quickly, or where it would be impractical to provide 

predeprivation process, postdeprivation process satisfies the requirements of the 

Due Process Clause.  We also have rejected the proposition that due process 

always requires the State to provide a hearing prior to the initial deprivation of 

property. An important government interest, accompanied by a substantial 

assurance that the deprivation is not baseless or unwarranted, may in limited cases 

demanding prompt action justify postponing the opportunity to be heard until after 

the initial deprivation. 
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          To determine what process is constitutionally due, we have generally 

balanced three distinct factors:  

          "First, the private interest that will be affected by the official action; second, 

the risk of an erroneous deprivation of such interest through the procedures used, 

and the probable value, if any, of additional or substitute procedural safeguards; 

and finally, the Government's interest.'' Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 335, 

96 S.Ct. 893, 903, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976).  

          Respondent contends that he has a significant private interest in the 

uninterrupted receipt of his paycheck. But while our opinions have recognized the 

severity of depriving someone of the means of his livelihood they have also 

emphasized that in determining what process is due, account must be taken of "the 

length'' and "finality of the deprivation.''  

          On the other side of the balance, the State has a significant interest in 

immediately suspending, when felony charges are filed against them, employees 

who occupy positions of great public trust and high public visibility, such as police 

officers. ESU's interest in preserving public confidence in its police force is at least 

as significant as the State's interest in preserving the integrity of the sport of horse 

racing, an interest we have deemed sufficiently important . . . to justify a brief 

period of suspension prior to affording the suspended trainer a hearing.  
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          The last factor in the Mathews balancing, and the factor most important to 

resolution of this case, is the risk of erroneous deprivation and the likely value of 

any additional procedures. The purpose of a pre-termination hearing is to 

determine whether there are reasonable grounds to believe the charges against the 

employee are true and support the proposed action. 

The purpose of any pre-suspension hearing would be to assure that there are 

reasonable grounds to support the suspension without pay. But here that has 

already been assured by the arrest and the filing of charges. They serve to assure 

that the state employer's decision to suspend the employee is not "baseless or 

unwarranted,'' in that an independent third party has determined that there is 

probable cause to believe the employee committed a serious crime.  

          Respondent further contends that he had to be given an opportunity to 

persuade his supervisor of his innocence before the decision was made. We 

disagree. In Mallen, despite the fact that the FDIC had discretion whether to 

suspend an indicted bank employee, we nevertheless did not believe that a 

presuspension hearing was necessary to protect the private interest.  

         The Court finds that the circumstances of this suspension did not violate due 

process. 
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Eureka County v. The Seventh Judicial District Court 
Supreme Court of Nevada (2018) 

A vested, senior water rights holder has asked the district court to order the 

State Engineer to curtail junior water rights in the Diamond Valley Hydrographic 

Basin No. 153 (Diamond Valley). In this writ proceeding, we must determine 

whether junior water rights holders are entitled to notice of and an opportunity to 

participate in the district court’s consideration of this curtailment request. Because 

the district court’s consideration of the matter at the upcoming show cause hearing 

could potentially result in the initiation of curtailment proceedings, we conclude 

that due process requires junior water rights holders in Diamond Valley be given 

notice and an opportunity to be heard. 

The Nevada Constitution protects against the deprivation of property 

without due process of law. Nev. Const. art. 1, § 8. Procedural due process 

requires that parties receive notice and an opportunity to be heard. In Nevada, 

water rights are regarded and protected as real property. 

Because the language in the show cause order indicates that the district court 

may enter an order forcing curtailment to begin, junior water rights holders must 

be given an opportunity to make their case for or against the option of curtailment. 

Notice must be given at an appropriate stage in the proceedings to give parties 

meaningful input in the adjudication of their rights. 
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Olsen v. Washoe County School District 
U.S. District Court (D. Nev. 2021) 

 
 

        Plaintiff Trina Olsen alleges that Defendant Washoe County School District 

("WCSD") violated her procedural due process rights under the United States and 

Nevada Constitutions when it fired her from her job as an assistant high school 

principal. Plaintiff received the process she was due. 

        Because Plaintiff's Fourteenth Amendment procedural due process claim fails, 

so does her due process claim under the Nevada Constitution. Because Nevada's 

due process requirements are largely coextensive with those of the Fourteenth 

Amendment and the Court found that Defendants are entitled to summary 

judgment on Plaintiff's Fourteenth Amendment claim, Defendants are also entitled 

to summary judgment on Plaintiff's due process claim under Nev. Const. Art. 1, 

§ 8(2).  
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Chudacoff v. University Medical Center of Southern Nevada 
United States District Court (D. Nev. 2009) 

 
 

This case arises out the suspension of a physician's medical staff privileges 

with University Medical Center of Southern Nevada.  

Plaintiff Dr. Richard Chudacoff, a physician who specializes in the practice 

of obstetrics and gynecology, had medical privileges to work at several local 

hospitals in the Las Vegas area, including University Medical Center of Southern 

Nevada (or "UMC").  

On May 28, 2008, Chudacoff received a letter from Defendant John 

Ellerton, M.D., Chief of Staff at UMC, in which Ellerton told Chudacoff that the 

Medical Executive Committee (or "MEC") had suspended, altered or modified his 

medical staff privileges. In addition, the MEC ordered Chudacoff to undergo drug 

testing and physical and mental examinations. Chudacoff alleges that this 

suspension came from out of the blue; he had no knowledge that the MEC was 

considering altering or changing his privileges. 

The May 28 letter advised Chudacoff that he was entitled to a Fair Hearing; 

however, he was not advised of the allegations presented against him.  

Chudacoff's motion for summary judgment is limited to whether the 

defendants violated his due process rights by suspending his hospital privileges 

without notice or an opportunity to be heard.  
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The Fourteenth Amendment prevents states from depriving individuals of 

protected liberty or property interests without affording those individuals 

procedural due process. In evaluating procedural due process claims, the Court 

must engage in a two-step inquiry: (1) we must ask whether the state has interfered 

with a protected liberty or property interest; and (2) we must determine whether the 

procedures attendant upon that deprivation were constitutionally sufficient. 

1.  Protected Property Interest  A protected liberty or property interest is 

one that is recognized and protected by state law. For example, when a state issues 

licenses to drivers, which confer citizens the right to operate a vehicle in that state, 

the state may not withdraw that right without affording due process.  

Just as Nevada grants licenses to its drivers, so too does it grant licenses to 

qualified physicians to practice medicine. In Nevada, Chapter 630 of the Revised 

Statutes generally governs the licensing of physicians in the state. The Nevada 

Supreme Court has recognized under Nevada law a right subject to reasonable 

rules and regulations to enjoy medical staff privileges in a community hospital. 

Further, UMC's bylaws and regulations provide for extending privileges to 

physicians to practice at the hospital provided that certain requirements are met. A 

physician's medical staff privileges are thus a protected interest under Nevada state 

law. 
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The defendants have attempted to revoke Chudacoff's privileges at UMC. 

This protected interest cannot be revoked without constitutionally sufficient 

procedures. 

2. Whether the Procedures Were Constitutionally Sufficient 

The amount of process that is due is a flexible concept that varies with the 

particular situation. The Court tests this concept by weighing several factors: 

First, the private interest that will be affected by the official action; second, 

the risk of an erroneous deprivation of such interest through the procedures used, 

and the probable value, if any, of additional or substitute procedural safeguards; 

and finally, the Government's interest, including the function involved and the 

fiscal and administrative burdens that the additional or substitute procedural 

requirement would entail. Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 335, 96 S.Ct. 893, 

47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976). 

The private interest at stake here is the ability to practice medicine at a 

particular location. The interest extends further, however, in that a suspension of 

privileges at one hospital, when reported to the NPDB, could limit a physician's 

ability to practice anywhere in the country. The amount of process must accord 

sufficient respect for a professional's life and livelihood. 
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Next, the risk of an erroneous deprivation is also significant, as an improper 

suspension would have dramatic consequences for the physician. Once the damage 

is done, it is hard to undo.         

Third, it is important for the state to have control over the quality of care that 

its physicians provide. The state has an interest in insuring that it can discipline 

malfeasance without further burdening limited state resources. 

Given the important interests outlined above, it simply cannot be that a 

physician may have his privileges revoked without ever having a chance to refute 

or challenge the accusations leveled against him. The MEC met late in May 2008 

to discuss allegations concerning Chudacoff's level of care, allegations that 

Chudacoff did not know were being leveled against him. The MEC suspended 

Chudacoff's medical staff privileges. Without ever even knowing that his privileges 

were in jeopardy, Chudacoff was informed of the loss of his privileges on May 28, 

2008. The NPDB was informed of the suspension on June 16, 2008, well before 

Chudacoff ever had an opportunity to be heard on the matter. 

The fatal flaw here is that the defendants suspended Chudacoff's staff 

privileges before giving him any type of notice or opportunity to be heard with 

respect to that suspension. Chudacoff's due process rights were violated by the 

timing of the MEC's actions.  
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Conclusion 

Prior to being deprived of a protected property interest, Dr. Chudacoff was 

entitled to notice and an opportunity to be heard. He was not afforded 

constitutionally sufficient procedural protections. 
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Tate v. University Medical Center of Southern Nevada 
United States District Court (D. Nev. 2009) 

 
 

Following an altercation involving the plaintiff, Dr. James Tate, and the 

parent and grandparent of a minor patient at University Medical Center of 

Southern Nevada (UMC), Dr. John Fildes removed Tate from the Trauma 

Department call schedule.  

Tate currently has clinical privileges to practice medicine at UMC. In 1991, 

he entered into a Trauma Services Agreement with UMC to provide trauma 

surgery services to UMC, and provided those services until August 8, 2008. 

On April 5, 2008, Tate found himself in a "situation" with the father and 

grandmother of a minor patient. In his complaint, he alleges that they were verbally 

hostile and aggressive, that he removed himself from the room, that they came 

after him in a fast and aggressive manner, stopping an inch away from him, that he 

placed his hands on the father and pushed him back "with the intent to create some 

space," and subsequently did the same with the grandmother. After a member of 

the nursing staff intervened and pulled the father and grandmother away, he 

finished his departure. 

        On August 8, Medical Director Fildes sent Tate a letter stating that, effective 

immediately, he would be removed from the Trauma Department call schedule 

indefinitely. He has not worked as a trauma surgeon at UMC since that date.  
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         Tate asserts that he had a right to, but was not afforded, due process prior to 

his removal from the trauma call schedule by Fildes.  

        Tate alleges he was deprived of a constitutionally protected property interest 

in violation of his due process rights. Tate asserts, and the defendants do not 

dispute, that a physician might have a property interest in clinical privileges. Tate 

has not alleged that Fildes limited or revoked his clinical privileges. Rather, despite 

clearly alleging that he "currently possesses clinical privileges to practice medicine 

at [UMC]," Tate alleges in his complaint that his removal from the trauma call 

schedule effected a "de facto suspension" of his clinical privileges.  

        While Tate may have a property interest in clinical privileges, he lacks any 

property interest in an employment position providing one of several different 

avenues by which he can exercise those privileges. While UMC entered into an 

agreement with Tate pursuant to which he could be paid for services rendered, 

which services would require that he exercise his clinical privileges, that 

agreement did not create, expand, or limit his privileges at UMC. Accepting Tate's 

allegation that Fildes removed Tate from the on-call schedule for trauma, such 

removal did not suspend or revoke his underlying privileges at UMC. 

        In this case, Tate's complaint permits only the inference that Fildes limited 

one of several avenues by which Tate could exercise his privilege to admit 

patients, but did not that limit the privilege itself. As the constitutionally protected 
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property interest lies in the clinical privilege, rather than one avenue to exercise 

those privileges, the court finds that the claim must be dismissed with prejudice. 
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Vatner v. Board of Trustees of the University of Medicine et al. 
U.S. District Court (D. of NJ) (2015) 

 

 Plaintiff, Dr. Stephen Vatner, is a Professor of Medicine at Rutgers 

Biomedical and Health Sciences-New Jersey Medical School and Director of the 

Cardiovascular Research Institute ("CVRI") at the New Jersey Medical School 

("NJMS" or "Medical School").  

The Court begins by noting that to the extent Plaintiff's procedural due 

process claim is premised on disciplinary actions other than his unpaid suspension, 

such alleged reprimands or the termination of his right to conduct K-9 research—

none of which affected his salary or benefits—do not constitute a deprivation of 

employment (or property interest) for purposes of triggering his procedural due 

process rights.  

There is no dispute, however, that tenured professors at public universities 

hold a property interest in their tenure, so that procedural due process is necessary 

when the university seeks to dismiss a tenured professor.  Generally speaking, 

"absent extraordinary circumstances," Plaintiff cannot be suspended without pay 

from his tenured employment unless there has been a pre-suspension hearing. Post-

deprivation process alone may satisfy the requirements of the Due Process Clause 

if a state must act quickly or if pre-deprivation process would be impractical. 
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Turning now to the interest-balancing framework set forth by the Supreme 

Court in Mathews v. Eldrige, the Court must determine whether the totality of the 

administrative process Plaintiff received in connection with his suspension 

satisfied the fundamental requirement of due process, which is the opportunity to 

be heard at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner. 

First, the Court finds that the private interest affected here is the continuation 

of Plaintiff's pay (i.e., the means of sustaining his livelihood). This private interest 

is, of course, significant. 

The Court finds that the second factor—risk of erroneous deprivation—was 

similarly great in this case inasmuch as there were conflicting stories as to whether 

Plaintiff had violated the Dean's directive. In light of this evidence, the Court finds 

that there was certainly a factual dispute as to whether or not Plaintiff had in fact 

violated Dean Johnson's directive. The purpose of such notice and hearing is to 

provide the person an opportunity to clear his name. But if the hearing mandated 

by the Due Process Clause is to serve any useful purpose, there must be some 

factual dispute between an employer and a discharged employee which has some 

significant bearing on the employee's reputation. 

The Court finds that Defendants' interest in suspending Plaintiff without pay 

and without a meaningful pre-deprivation hearing was minimal. This is not a 

situation where Plaintiff had been arrested or indicted for criminal wrongdoing. 
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Rather, evidence in the record shows that Plaintiff was suspended based upon his 

alleged failure to follow Dean Johnson's directive to cancel his trip to the 

Philippines. 

The Court finds that Plaintiff should have been afforded the minimal pre-

deprivation process of notice and an opportunity to be heard. Such process would 

not have necessarily resolved the dispute definitively, but at least it would have 

accomplished the goal of pre-deprivation process, namely an initial check against a 

potentially mistaken decision. 

        Turning now to the evidence in the record, in support of its position that 

Dean Johnson afforded Plaintiff a pre-deprivation opportunity to respond to the 

claims of insubordination and/or the imposition of the suspension, Defendants cite 

to the following deposition testimony of Dean Johnson: 

Q: Did you meet with Dr. Vatner upon his return to discuss this with 

them before you issued the memo? 

A: I met with him at the time we issued the memo, yes. 

Q: Was the meeting with the intention to give him the memo or to 

hear what he had to say about the travel? 

A: Both. 

Evidence in the record also demonstrates, however, that: (1) pursuant to the 

letter of reprimand at issue, dated March 26, 2010, Plaintiff's suspension was 
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effective on the same day—March 26, 2010, (2) Dean Johnson submitted the 

Faculty Transaction Form authorizing Plaintiff's "suspension w/out pay" on March 

25, 2010, and (3) the memorandum from Dean Johnson to Freda Zackin, Vice 

President for Academic Affairs containing the Faculty Transaction Form is dated 

March 25, 2010 and states: 

This is to advise you that I have suspended Dr. Stephen Vatner for a 

period of two weeks beginning March 26, 2010 without pay. Attached 

is the necessary paperwork to remove him from payroll for this 

period. 

The Court finds  it is reasonable to conclude that: (1) the decision to impose 

an unpaid suspension on Plaintiff had already been made by the point in time in 

which Dean Johnson handed him the March 26, 2010 letter of reprimand, and (2) 

Plaintiff's suspension was, in fact, already in effect by the point in time in which he 

received notice of same. In other words, the Court finds that Defendants failed to 

provide Plaintiff with advance notice of his unpaid suspension and/or with a 

meaningful opportunity to be heard before it went into effect. 
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Yagman v. Garcetti 
U.S. Court of Appeals (9th Cir. 2017) 

 
 

The issue in this appeal is whether the California Vehicle Code's procedure 

for contesting parking citations deprives contestants of property without due 

process.  

Appellant Stephen Yagman alleges that he received and contested three 

parking citations from the City of Los Angeles. Yagman alleges that he asked for a 

hearing and, after his requests to waive the deposit requirement were denied, 

deposited the penalties and prevailed at two of the three formal administrative 

hearings. Yagman does not dispute that he also underwent an initial review 

process. 

Yagman argues that the City's procedure for contesting parking citations 

violates procedural due process because it requires contestants to surrender 

property before holding a formal hearing. Due process is a flexible concept that 

varies with the particular situation. The base requirement of the Due Process 

Clause is that a person deprived of property be given an opportunity to be heard at 

a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner. This principle does not always 

require a full evidentiary hearing or a formal hearing.  

The predeprivation hearing, which need not be elaborate, serves only as an 

initial check against mistaken decisions—essentially, a determination of whether 
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there are reasonable grounds to believe that the charges are true and support the 

proposed action. To that end, a due process plaintiff need only be accorded oral or 

written notice of the charges against him, an explanation of the adverse evidence, 

and an opportunity to present his side of the story. Further, where prompt 

postdeprivation review is available for correction of administrative error, due 

process generally requires no more than that the predeprivation procedures used be 

designed to provide a reasonably reliable basis for concluding that the facts 

justifying the official action are as a responsible governmental official warrants 

them to be. 

Accordingly, there are no hard and fast rules for determining the requisite 

timing and adequacy of pre- and post-deprivation procedures. Rather, once this 

court has concluded a protected interest is at stake, it must apply the three-part 

balancing test established in Mathews v. Eldridge to determine whether a pre-

deprivation hearing is required and what specific procedures must be employed at 

that hearing given the particularities of the deprivation. The Mathews factors are: 

(1) the private interest affected; (2) the risk of erroneous deprivation through the 

procedures used, and the value of additional procedural safeguards; and (3) the 

government's interest, including the burdens of additional procedural requirements. 

By weighing these concerns, courts can determine whether a State has met the 
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fundamental requirement of due process—the opportunity to be heard at a 

meaningful time and in a meaningful manner. 

Yagman mistakenly assumes an initial review does not satisfy the general 

rule requiring predeprivation notice and hearing. Properly framed, the issue is not 

whether predeprivation notice and a full, formal hearing are required; it is whether 

the City's procedures as a whole are constitutionally adequate under the 

circumstances—a determination that requires application of the Mathews test. 

With respect to the first Mathews factor, the private interest at stake is 

relatively modest. Any erroneous deprivation based on the City's prehearing 

deposit requirement is temporary, as the deposit is refunded after a successful 

challenge. Here, given the exception for individuals who cannot afford the deposit, 

the only private interest at stake for those subject to the deposit requirement is the 

temporary use of deposited funds during the period between a request for an 

administrative hearing and any refund following resolution of that hearing—a 

period which cannot exceed 120 days under state law. Yagman characterizes this 

private interest as the lost time-value of money, According to the Complaint, 

Yagman’s largest penalty was $73. Thus, the actual amount at stake was the 

interest accrued on $73 over perhaps as little as a few days, and no more than a few 

months. In other words, a very modest sum over a short period of time—a few 

dollars at most.  
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With respect to the second Mathews factor, the risk of erroneously depriving 

contestants of the deposited funds is relatively small. The initial-review process 

gave Yagman an opportunity to present evidence and arguments challenging his 

citations.  

Finally, with respect to the third Mathews factor, the City's interests served 

by the deposit requirement are substantial. One such interest is in discouraging 

dilatory challenges. Requiring the City to provide formal administrative hearings 

without collecting deposits would encourage contestants to request hearings simply 

to delay paying the penalties. The City has an interest in promptly collecting 

parking penalties.  

Balancing the Mathews factors discussed above, this court concludes that the 

deposit requirement does not violate procedural due process. Given the moderate 

risk of erroneous deprivation, Yagman's modest interest in temporarily retaining 

the amount of a parking penalty is outweighed by the City's more substantial 

interests in discouraging dilatory challenges, promptly collecting penalties, and 

conserving scarce resources. 

Thus, Yagman cannot state a claim for violation of procedural due process 

based on the deposit requirement. The dismissal of Yagman's claims with prejudice 

is affirmed. 
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